1982

State of Utah v. Brent Bindrup : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant appeals from a conviction of murder in the 2nd degree in the Second Judicial District Court, Weber County, State of Utah, the Honorable Calvin Gould presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was found guilty of murder in the 2nd degree in a non-jury trial held before the Honorable Calvin Gould, on September 21, 1981. Appellant was sentenced to a term of five years to life in the Utah State Prison. The sentence was suspended and the appellant was placed on probation.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 8, 1980, at approximately 1:50 a.m., appellant was travelling southbound on Washington Boulevard in Ogden, Utah, when he went through a red light at the intersection of 31st Street and Washington Boulevard, and collided with a motorcycle driven by the victim. The victim was travelling east on 31st Street and had lawfully entered the intersection on a green light. The motorcyclist was killed and, although appellant's truck went into a spin and overturned, the truck's occupants were not seriously injured. The appellant had been drinking and the

evidence at trial indicated a blood alcohol level of .12%, approximately one hour after the accident. There was also evidence that appellant had, prior to the accident, run through at least two other red lights on Washington Boulevard, and was travelling in excess of the 35 mph posted speed limit. Various witnesses estimated the speed of the appellant's vehicle at between 40 mph and 59 mph.

At the first preliminary hearing held on October 23, 1980, before the Honorable Stanton M. Taylor, Judge of the Ogden Circuit Court, the prosecution attempted to get a bind over on a 2nd degree murder charge. However, Judge Taylor felt that this was not the type of situation the legislature meant to encompass within the murder statute. Judge Taylor did find probable cause that the crime of manslaughter had been committed and bound the case over to the Second Judicial District Court on that charge. The prosecution dismissed the charge of manslaughter and went back to the Ogden Circuit Court on the charge of 2nd degree murder. A preliminary hearing was held before the Honorable E. F. Ziegler on July 10, 1981, and, again the defense argued that the 2nd degree murder statute did not apply to the facts of this case. However, Judge Ziegler found probable cause that the crime had been committed and the appellant was bound over on the charge of 2nd degree murder.

The trial was held on September 3, 1981, before the Honorable Calvin Gould, Judge of the Second Judicial District Court, Weber County, Utah, sitting without a jury. After hearing the evidence, Judge Gould took the matter under advisement and rendered a

memorandum decision on September 21, 1981, finding the appellant guilty of 2nd degree murder.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S CONDUCT EVIDENCED THE "DEPRAVED INDIFFERENCE FOR HUMAN LIFE" REQUIRED BY UTAH'S SECOND DEGREE MURDER STATUTE.

Appellant was convicted of a 1st degree felony based upon a violation of UCA Section 76-5-203(1)(c). Specifically, this section states:

Criminal homicide constitutes murder in the second degree if the actor:

(a)...

(b)...

Acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, he recklessly engaged in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another and thereby causes the death of another.

It is a universally held view in our criminal justice system, that a conviction of murder requires a showing of malice on the part of the accused. In the case of Farrow v. Smith, 541 P.2d 1107 (Utah 1975), the Utah Supreme Court made it clear that Utah adheres to this fundamental principle. The court states in that case that:

For many years the definition of second degree murder has been the unlawful killing of a human being with malice aforethought, and that of manslaughter was the unlawful killing of a human being without malice. In our opinion, the new criminal code has not changed those definitions. Id at 1109.

See also State v. Lingman, 91 P.2d 457 (Utah 1939); State v. Barker, 196 P.2d 723 (Utah 1948.)

The issue of what is meant by implied malice was squarely confronted by the Supreme Court of Arizona in the case of State v. Chalmers, 411 P.2d 448 (Arizona 1966.) In that case, the defendant was travelling on a two lane highway at between 80 mph and 100 mph, and passed several cars going in the same direction. In doing so, the defendant forced two vehicles, coming the opposite direction, to completely leave the highway to avoid a collision. Defendant swerved back into his own lane and then, shortly thereafter, attempted to pass more vehicles when he collided head-on into two vehicles in the opposite lane, causing two fatalities and three serious injuries. Defendant was convicted of 2nd degree murder and appealed. The court admitted that:

There is sufficient evidence for the jury to find gross negligence and utter disregard of the safety or welfare of any person who might have been in the vicinity of defendant's car;

but held that due to the lack of showing of malice, or as they called it:

An abandoned or malignant heart, the defendant was not guilty of murder. At 452.

In the case of Blackwell v. Maryland, 369 A.2d 53 (Md. 1977), the Court of Special Appeals of Maryland explored the same issue. In that case, a teenage girl riding a bicycle with lights and reflectors, was killed by an intoxicated driver who was weaving on and off the road. The defendant made no attempt to stop, either before or after hitting the girl. The trial judge gave a lengthy discussion of the malice, implied or actual, required

for a conviction of murder and discussed the gross negligence, wanton and reckless conduct that is required for a finding of manslaughter. In overturning the conviction, the appeals court ruled that the trial judge erred, as a matter of law, in presenting the issue of murder to the jury because of clear lack of malice.

The appellant, in the present case, was convicted of 2nd degree murder by the Honorable Calvin Gould. The only case that Judge Gould refers to in his memorandum decision is the Utah Supreme Court case of State v. Nicholson, 585 P.2d 60 (1978 Utah.) In the Nicholson case the court explains the term "depraved indifference" by listing five cases which represent examples of that type of conduct. Four of these cases are, People v. Burden, 140 Ca. Rptr. 282 (1977), starvation of a five month old child; Gibson v. State, 476 P.2d 362 (Okla. Cir. 1979), prisoner grabbing a steering wheel of sheriff's car while in transit; State v. Hokenson, 527 P.2d 487 (Idaho 1974), killing a policeman with a bomb; and State v. Draves, 524 P.2d 1225 (Ore. 1974), reckless shooting of a gun into a crowd. Each of these cases clearly conform to the concept of implied malice. The fifth case of Wagner v. State, 250 NW 2d 331 (1977 Wis.) is the only case where the facts bear any resemblance to the case presently before the court. This Wisconsin Supreme Court case is mis-cited in the Nicholson case and, therefore, the holding is incorrectly used in Judge Gould's memorandum decision.

In the Wagner case, the Wisconsin Court renders an excellent discussion on what is meant by a depraved mind. In that case, the

defendant had ingested pain medication and enough alcohol to have a .178% blood alcohol two hours after the incident. The defendant was driving a high powered automobile and was waiting at a red light when another car stopped and a challenge to race was accepted. The two vehicles proceeded to race down the town's main street and the defendant's vehicle struck and killed a pedestrian. The vehicles did not stop, but continued racing down Central Avenue. The defendant's car was seen speeding across railroad tracks at approximately 50 mph, causing sparks to fly. A witness led the police to the defendant's car. In overturning the appellant's murder conviction the court observes that:

To constitute a depraved mind, more than a high degree of negligence or recklessness must exist. The mind must not only disregard the safety of another, but be devoid of regard for the life of another. A depraved mind lacks the moral sense and appreciation of life, and is unreasonable and lacks judgment. A depraved mind has the general intent to do the acts and the consciousness of the nature of the acts and possible result but lacks the specific intent to do the harm. Id at 340.

In other words, the court is saying that the legislature did not put the word "depraved" in the statute as mere surplusage. The state must show that the defendant was aware or should have been aware that his conduct was imminently dangerous to human life. It is not necessary to show that a defendant intended to kill any specific individual. However, it is not enough to show that the defendant's conduct could conceivably result in someone's death. The distinction is important because it rightfully reserves the

murder statute for those cases where malice or a clear substitute for malice is present. For example, if parents fail to feed an infant, they may, not consciously intend that the infant should die, but it is reasonable for the law to place the burden on the parents that they should have known. If a person drives a car or shoots a gun into a crowd of people without intending to kill anyone, it is also reasonable for the law to assume that a normal moral person would realize that, regardless of intent, someone will probably die. These are cases where a "depraved indifference" on the part of the actor exists and the law will imply malice.

The Wisconsin Court in Wagner, supra, recognized that the defendant's conduct created a situation of unreasonable risk of injury. However, the court ruled that the fact situation was insufficient to show that defendant's conduct constituted a depraved mind. The court also found that the defendant lacked the state of mind necessary for him to be found guilty of 2nd degree murder.

In the present case, the appellant was driving while intoxicated at a speed of somewhat over the limit. The streets were virtually deserted at 2:00 a.m., and the defendant foolishly and negligently drove through several intersections with red lights. Anytime someone runs through a red light there is the danger of an accident. But, the facts are that the vast majority of times that someone passes through a red light, there is no resulting incident. On this particular occasion, the appellant's truck and the victim's motorcycle arrived at the same point at the same time and a terrible tragedy occurred. The appellant did not intend for the

event to occur. No one can claim that the appellant, even unconsciously, intended to kill the victim in this case as required by the concept of malice. The court in the Wagner, supra, case referred to an earlier Wisconsin case of Seidler v. State, 219 N.W.2d 320 (1974), and stated that:

It was not the lack of evidence of any intent to harm the deceased in Seidler, supra, which this court found critical, but rather the lack of intent to do the act which resulted in the death, i.e., a lack of evidence that Seidler consciously threw the victim at the hard and unyielding portions of the bed. Id at 341.

Likewise, in the case before this court, no one has argued that the appellant intended to run his vehicle into another vehicle under circumstances where he should have known that someone would be killed or injured as would be required to show implied malice.

The state could only introduce evidence that the defendant may have intended to run the red light. Even this evidence was controverted by the testimony of the psychiatrist. From this showing, the prosecution tried to imply that the appellant should have known that he would collide with another car and, further, that this inevitable collision would cause the death of another. By accepting the prosecution's argument, the trial court has attempted to stretch and contort the parameters of the murder statute to include what was, under the circumstances, an automobile accident. The appellant was not acting under circumstances where a person should have known the event would occur. The appellant did not demonstrate a depraved indifference to the life of the

victim. In fact, the evidence at trial tended to show that he was badly shaken by the results of his actions.

It was the clear lack of malice in the present case which caused Judge Stanton Taylor, in the first preliminary hearing, to refuse to bind over the case on a murder charge. Judge Taylor stated that:

The court does not believe that it was the intent of the legislature to cover this type of incident with your second degree murder statute. I believe that in order to be convicted of a second degree murder under these circumstances, the defendant would have to be aware of the presence of either the victim or someone like him. In other words, some specific knowledge that a person is being endangered by my conduct, not a generalized knowledge that someone might be there, some potential hazard, but a specific knowledge that a person is there and I am creating a danger to him through my willful indifference to his safety.

First preliminary hearing transcript, page 55.

Although Judge Taylor's remarks are, in no way, binding upon this court, appellant contends that the judge has correctly expressed the state of the law in Utah. That the terms "depraved indifference to human life" and "grave risk of death" require a showing that the appellant was aware of a person's presence and aware that his conduct would probably result in a person's death or near death, and that the appellant continued in his course of conduct with no concern for the consequences. The facts in the present case showed that the appellant ran through a red light in the middle of the night when the streets were virtually deserted.

The appellant was not acting under some depraved death wish

and, clearly, had no intention of hurting himself or anyone else. The evidence at trial showed that the appellant was deeply distressed and concerned for the victim of the accident and showed great remorse for the results of his foolish behavior. Had the appellant had any real belief that his actions would result in another's death, he would not have run the red light.

POINT II

DEFENDANT'S ACTIONS, AS A MATTER OF
LAW, CONSTITUTED AUTOMOBILE HOMICIDE
AS SET OUT IN THE UTAH CODE.

The Utah Automobile Homicide Statute, UCA 76-5-207, at the time of this offense, read as follows:

Criminal Homicide constitutes automobile homicide if the actor, while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance, or any drug, to a degree which renders the actor incapable of safely driving a vehicle, causes the death of another by operating a motor vehicle in a negligent manner.

The above statute was interpreted by this court in its decision of State v. Chavez, 605 P.2d 1226 (1979.) In the Chavez case, the court determined that the statute requires the state to show that the defendant acted with criminal negligence rather than just simple negligence.

The appellant contends that if he is guilty of a crime, that crime should be automobile homicide. The Chavez case is helpful to the present case in three respects: The facts, the holding and the dissenting opinion.

The facts in Chavez are as follows: The defendant was travelling down State Street in Salt Lake City, Utah, at a high

rate of speed when he approached the intersection of 3900 South facing a red light. It was 10:00 p.m., and the lanes of traffic were blocked by several cars waiting for the red light. The defendant veered out of the lanes of traffic, drove on the gutter around the other cars waiting for the light to change, and went into the intersection where he collided with a car travelling on 3900 South, killing a two year old boy.

The facts in the Chavez case are more aggregious than the present case in many respects. Chavez was driving at a time when State Street was congested with traffic. He not only ran a red light, but actually had to veer off the road to get around vehicles waiting for the red light, and his blood alcohol registered at .19%. Yet, in this case, the Utah Supreme Court wasn't grappling with the problem of murder or manslaughter. They were trying to determine if the degree of culpability evidenced by Chavez was great enough to impose an automobile homicide conviction.

Chavez appealed his automobile homicide conviction on the basis that the court had instructed the jury that only simple negligence was required. Chavez claimed that a showing of criminal negligence was required. The Supreme Court of Utah agreed and remanded the case for retrial to determine if Chavez's actions constituted criminal negligence. The law stated in Chavez was later overruled by the legislature but at the time of appellant's accident, Chavez was the law in Utah. The court was clear in the Chavez case, holding that:

We are, therefore, of the opinion that our previous cases holding that automobile homicide requires only proof of simple

negligence under Section 76-5-207, are in error and are overruled. And we hold that a conviction of automobile homicide requires an instruction on criminal negligence as that term is defined in Section 76-2-103(4). Id at 1228.

Criminal negligence is defined in Section 76-2-103:

A person engages in conduct:

(1)...

(2)...

(3)...

(4) With criminal negligence or is criminally negligent with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he ought to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that the failure to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

This appears to be an accurate and appropriate description of appellant's conduct in the case now before the court.

Finally, the dissenting opinion of Chief Justice Crockett recognizes an important principle. Crockett made it clear that he felt that Chavez's actions were exactly what was contemplated in the definition of automobile homicide and he affirms an important rule of law that should be considered in the present case. He states that:

The universally accepted rule is that a specific statute takes precedence over a general one. Therefore, the definition of defendant's crime is found in the just quoted (automobile homicide) statute. Id at 1229.

73 American Jurisprudence 2d, Statutes, Section 257, indicates that:

Where there is in the same statute a specific provision and also a general one which in its most comprehensive sense would include matters embraced in the former, the particular provision must control, and the general provision must be taken to affect only such cases within its general language as are not within the provisions of the particular provisions.

In addition to Justice Crockett's opinion in the Chavez case, the Utah Supreme Court in Millert v. Clark Clinic Corp., 609 P.2d 934 (Utah 1980); Bateman v. Board of Examiners, 322 P.2d 381 (Utah 1958); Pacific Intermountain Express Co. v. State Tax Commission, 316 P.2d 549 (Utah 1957); State v. Burnham, 49 P.2d 963 (Utah 1935); has held that the State of Utah adheres to this general principle.

In the present case, there is no question that the appellant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor and thereby caused another's death.

The Chavez case confirms that at the time of the appellant's accident, a conviction of automobile homicide required a showing of criminal negligence. Appellant denies that he was acting with any kind of malice, either implied or actual. However, appellant concedes that his conduct was arguably criminally negligent as defined by that statute.

POINT III

WHEN THE SAME CONDUCT IS PROSCRIBED BY
TWO DIFFERENT CRIMINAL PENALTIES, THE
ACCUSED IS ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT OF
THE LESSER.

In the Utah State Supreme Court case of State v. Shondel, 453 P.2d 146 (Utah 1969), a case involving possession of LSD, this

-14-

court adhered to the general criminal principle that where the defendant's conduct is encompassed by two different criminal penalties, that the accused should be convicted of the lesser. This general rule is summarized in 50 ALR 1531, where it states that:

The safest of all rules, in the construing of criminal statutes of doubtful meaning, is to resolve the ambiguity into the milder construction, in favor of the party accused. Id at 1533 and 1534.

The United States Supreme Court affirmed this rule in the case of United States v. Universal CIT Credit Corp., 344 U.S. 218, 73 S. Ct. 227, 97 L. Ed. 260 (1952.)

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