Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1982

State of Utah v. Brent Bindrup : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

A depraved mind must be indifferent to the life of others. Such negative attitude is not found in the mind of a normal, reasonable person. The desire to live and the recognition others desire to live and have a right to life is innate in the mind of a normal person. Mere negligence alone is not sufficient. A high degree of negligence may be an element. Such degree of negligence is an element of homicide by negligent use of a vehicle or weapon.

See also: State v. Draves, Or. App., 524 P.2d 1225 (1974); State v. Hokenson, 527 P.2d 487 (Ida. 1974).

For centuries the common law required a showing of malice for second-degree murder. As time went by, the legal

meaning of malice developed to connote an "evil intent" whereas the ordinary meaning remained "animosity" or "ill will." The distinction became difficult for jurors to understand and confusion in instructions and verdicts resulted. This divergence in definition prompted the drafters of the Model Penal Code to eliminate malice from the legislative descriptions of homicides in the 1950's. The Utah Legislature intentionally avoided the concept of malice in the present Utah Criminal Code for the same reason. Justice Wilkins, concurring in the Nicholson opinion at 63, stated:

The main opinion cites cases and-discusses principles of law which were pertinent to our criminal code prior to 1973, at which time the Utah Legislature enacted the present statutes under which defendant was convicted. The term "malice" and "malice aforethought" are not used in the present homicide statutes. The term "malice" was part of the prior law. Likewise, the prior statutes provided that "malice" was "express" or "implied" while the new statutes use entirely different language. We must apply the new law, not engraft the old terms into the new statute when the Legislature has seen fit to change those terms.

Justice Wilkins presented an excellent discussion of the various standards in the Model Penal Code as it relates to "deprayed indifference" and concluded:

I do not believe that the Legislature intended that "depraved indifference to human life" under subsection (c) should be

measured by the same "awareness" of the certainty that the risk would result in death as the word "knowing" would entail. Instead, the greatness of the risk, and the lack of justification for the creation of that risk are the tests.

Id. at 65.

Although in an earlier case, this Court stated:

For many years the definition of second degree murder has been the unlawful killing of a human being with malice aforethought, and that of manslaughter was the unlawful killing of a human being without malice. In out opinion the new criminal code has not changed those definitions.

<u>Nicholson</u> provide, it is now clear that malice is no longer a necessary element of second-degree murder in Utah. Even if it were an element, the cases discussed below indicate that this case was properly a second-degree murder case.

Because the Utah Criminal Code is relatively new and the standard of "depraved indifference to human life" is novel, there is little precedent for second-degree murder convictions under similar statutes in other jurisdictions and involving facts similar to this case. Murder of the second degree has, however, been found under similar facts with statutes requiring malice, express or implied.

In <u>Commonwealth v. Taylor</u>, 337 A.2d 545 (Pa. 1975), the intoxicated defendant, speeding in an automobile, hit a youngster on a bicycle and killed him. On appeal, the court found the evidence adequate to show:

wanton and reckless conduct which manifests an extreme indifference to the value of human life which transcends the negligent killing and reaches the level of malice which supports a verdict of murder in the second degree.

<u>Id</u>. at 548. The conviction of second-degree murder was affirmed.

In <u>Layne v. State</u>, 531 S.W.2d 802 (Tenn. 1975), the court held that a claimed "overwhelming compulsion" to ingest drugs and alcohol would not justify the reckless use of a motor vehicle. The inebriated defendant negligently crossed the center line of the highway and killed two people in a head-on collision.

of an automobile while intoxicated and driving recklessly upon the public highway, will not be heard to say he had no intention of doing an injury to the person or property of another. The intent to commit a criminal act, . . . is evidenced by the act itself, so in the case at bar intent is evidenced (1) by the wilful drinking of intoxicating liquors, (2) knowingly driving an automobile while drunk at a dangerous and reckless rate of speed, to wit 60 and 70 miles an hour, and (3) with knowledge that his condition in thus driving was perilous to every person

on the highway including the defendant himself. It would be a mockery of the law for one thus guilty of violating the criminal laws of the State, enacted for the protection of human life, to say he could not foresee the consequence of his act.

Id. at 803, 804. The conviction of second-degree murder was affirmed.

In <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 401 So. 2d 266 (Ala. 1981), the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder after killing the victim in an automobile accident. The court found the defendant capable of second-degree murder although his blood alcohol level was .26% two hours after the fatal accident. Proof of consciousness of the act, consciousness of impeding danger, and of consciousness of probable results, with reckless indifference to the probable consequences was apparent. The conviction of second-degree murder was affirmed.

In <u>Commandu v. State</u>, 374 So. 2d 910 (Ala. 1978), Mrs. Henderson had pulled off the road to fix a flat tire. Her son was removing the spare from the trunk when the drunk defendant, coming from behind, hit Mrs. Henderson's car and knocked it 80 feet down the road. The Henderson boy did not survive the accident.

Mrs. Henderson was repelled away from her automobile by the collision. She sustained a broken leg and sent two of her

children to seek help. Mrs. Henderson testified that she saw the appellant get out of his automobile and throw some bottles out of his car. She called to him and after two or three minutes he came over and asked if she was all right.

"I said, 'Yes, but you have killed my young'un'. He said 'No, I hadn't killed nobody'. So, I could smell the alcohol around him and I told him. I said, 'You're drunk, ain't you'? He said, 'No lady, I'm not drunk, but I'm gonna be drunk'. And I told him next time he put a beer to his mouth, I hoped he could see what he had done there tonight."

The appellant then went and lay down near the Henderson automobile.

Id. at 912.

The court held that it was a "settled principle of law that where death ensues from an act done without lawful purpose, dangerous to life, malice is implied." Id. at 914. The conviction of second-degree murder was affirmed.

In <u>Hamilton v. Commonwealth</u>, 560 S.W.2d 539 (Ky. 1978), the defendant appealed from a twenty-year sentence based upon a conviction of second-degree murder. The defendant had been traveling down a street at 50 miles per hour, ignored a red light and killed a woman lawfully entering the intersection on a green light. Two hours after the accident the defendant's blood alcohol level was .18%. The applicable statute for second-degree murder was similar to that of the statute considered in this case and read:

A person is guilty of murder when: (b) Under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to human life, he wantonly engaged in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another person and thereby causes the death of another person.

Id. at 541. The court found the defendant's conduct met the requirements of the statute:

The facts in this case demonstrate that the accident was not the typical automobile accident where a driver makes a gross error of judgment and is tried for manslaughter or reckless homicide. Rather, Hamilton's conduct surpasses the usual vehicle manslaughter case and demonstrates "wanton" conduct and extreme indifference to human life. The jury was instructed on murder, second degree manslaughter and reckless homicide. found that Hamilton should have known of the plain and obvious likelihood that death or great bodily injury could have resulted from operating his truck, while in a drunken condition, through an intersection where a red light demanded that he stop.

This is a "hurry-up" world of people on the go, with heavy traffic by high-powered vehicles on all types of roads and at all times of the day or night. Such a situation coupled with a driver's inclination to take "one or more [drinks] for the road," increases the vehicular death rate on the highways of this Commonwealth. majority of the members of this court is of the opinion that the legislature enacted KRS 507.020(1)(b) to deter such conduct. The legislature is commended for taking a giant step forward. Its action in enacting this statute will do much to decrease vehicular highway deaths by persons operating an automobile while under the influence of intoxicants.

Id. at 541. The conviction for second-degree murder was affirmed.

The fact findings of the trial court will not be disturbed by this Court unless " . . . the evidence was so inconclusive or unsatisfactory that reasonable minds acting fairly must have entertained reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime." State v. Mills, Utah, 530 P.2d 1272 (1975); State v. Wilson, Utah, 565 P.2d 66 (1977); State v. Lamm, Utah, 606 P.2d 229 (1980). Further, the evidence relied upon by the trier of fact need not refute contrary allegations by the defendant. State v. Lamm, supra, at 232. As discussed above, and as will be further discussed in Point III of this brief, the evidence adduced in this case was sufficient to support Judge Gould's finding that appellant's conduct constituted "depraved indifference to human life" in convicting appellant of second-degree murder (R. 18). This conviction should not be reversed for insufficiency of the evidence to support the finding of guilt.

POINT II

THE APPELLANT WAS AWARE OF THE SUBSTANTIAL AND UNJUSTIFIABLE RISK OF DEATH AND THEREFORE THE UTAH AUTOMOBILE HOMICIDE STATUTE DOES NOT APPLY.

At the time of the accident in this case, Utah Code Annotated, § 76-5-207 (1953), as amended, read:

76-5-207. Automobile homicide. (1) Criminal homicide constitutes automobile homicide if the actor, while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, a controlled substance, or any drug, to a degree which renders the actor incapable of safely driving a vehicle, causes the death of another by operating a motor vehicle in a negligent manner. (2) The presumption established by Section 41-6-44(b) of the Utah Motor Vehicle Act, relating to blood alcohol percentages, shall be applicable to this section, and any chemical test administered on a defendant with his consent or after his arrest under this section, whether with or against his consent, shall be admissible in accordance with the rules of evidence. (3) For purposes of the automobile homicide section, a motor vehicle constitutes any self-propelled vehicle and includes, but is not limited to, any automobile, truck, van, motorcycle, train, engine, watercraft, or aircraft. (4) Automobile homicide is a felony of the third degree.

The standard of negligence required for conviction under this statute was criminal negligence as defined in Utah Code Annotated, § 76-2-103 (1953), as amended. State v. Chavez, Utah, 605 P.2d 1226 (1979). Section 76-2-103 provides:

A person engages in conduct:

(4) With criminal negligence or is criminally negligent with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he ought to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk

must be of such a nature and degree that the failure to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

Ought to have been aware of the substantial and unjustifiable risk associated with the conduct. In this case it was shown at trial that the appellant was actually aware of the grave risk of death to another, as is evidenced by the testimony of the appellant himself.

- Q. Brent, you realized that if somebody did come through a green light going through one of those intersections, and you hit them, they might be seriously injured or killed, didn't you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. You knew what you were doing, didn't you?
- A. Well, yeah, I guess I knew what I was doing.
- Q. Okay. Were you concerned about the fact that somebody might run through those intersections on a green light, and you would be there to meet them?
- A. No, the thought never crossed my mind. I was watching for them.

(T. 210).

Moreover, if the appellant was not aware of it on his own, his companion and passenger, Kerry Moyes, made it

clear to the appellant that he was creating a risk of death (T. 57, 73). The following is from a police report by Moyes:

- Q. Did Bindrup stop at any of the lights or did he just slow down and then proceed through.
- A. He stopped at some of them, I know he didn't run all of them from the Golden Spike. But he did run the last five or six.
- Q. What street did you enter Washington Blvd. from?
- A. I don't remember. It seems like we went straight from Harrisville Rd. to Washington Blvd.
- Q. How fast were you traveling down Washington Blvd.?
- A. I never looked at his gauge.
- Q. Did you feel he was traveling too fast or dangerously driving?
- A. I don't feel he was driving dangerously but he was at least ten over.
- Q. Did you ever ask Bindrup to slow the truck down?
- A. I didn't ask him I told him to slow it down.
- Q. Did you run any red lights at a high rate of speed before the accident?
 A. At least one.
- (R. 27, State's Exhibit K) (emphasis added); and the following from the preliminary hearing:
 - Q. Yes. Okay. Now, did Brent slow down at all for the last several red lights that he ran including the one at 31st and Washington where he hit the motorcycle?
 - A. No, sir. The last few he just went straight through.
 - Q. What did you say to Brent when he started driving like this?
 - A. I told him to stop.

- Q. Were you concerned about the circumstances?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. What was Brent's reaction when you told him to slow down or knock it off?
- A. He just kept going.
- Q. Did he say anything?
- A. No.
- Q. Did he look at you or change his facial expression at all?
- A. He looked at me and that, and kept going.
- Q. Just kept going?
- A. Yes.
- Q. How many times did you tell him to knock it off or slow down?
- A. About four times.

(R. 21, State's Exhibit L).

The appellant did not kill Charles Feeney as a result of criminally negligent behavior; he intentionally sped through the red light at the intersection of 31st South and Washington Boulevard, causing the grave risk of death to himself, his passenger, and Mr. Feeney. His intoxicated condition did not prevent him from being aware of the circumstances whereby he killed a man. There was no delayed reaction, no torpid attempt to stop for the light, no clouded perception of the situation, and no mistake as to the speed

the appellant was traveling. The appellant began speeding, began running red lights in the wee hours of the morning; he grew bolder at each light as the chance for collision became greater at each light. He intentionally and repeatedly drove through intersections he was prohibited from entering and by so doing disregarded the grave risk of death he created Kerry Moyes testified that the appellant "drove real thereby. good" (T. 20) until he started running red lights. appellant decided to disregard the light at 31st South and killed Mr. Feeney. Thus, his conduct evidenced much more than mere criminal negligence. Cf. State v. Hallett, Utah, 619 P.2d 335 (1980), bending over a stop sign constitutes criminal negligence. Appellant's argument that since his conduct occurred at 2:00 a.m. rather than at some other time when there might have been more traffic, his conduct shows only negligence and not "depraved indifference" is misplaced. There was no evidence that the streets were "virtually deserted" as alleged in appellant's brief, and even if there were, it would not change the nature of appellant's conduct. In addition, appellant's contention that prior cases involving convictions of automobile homicide involved more egregious fact situations than this case and thus that the evidence in this case does not support a conviction of murder, is also without merit. Appellant cites State v. Chavez, Utah, 605 P.2d 1226 (1979) as a case in which the facts evidenced a higher degree of depravity than those of the case at bar.

Respondent submits that the facts of <u>Chavez</u> might have supported a second-degree murder conviction; that issue was simply not raised since the defendant there was not so charged. Thus, <u>Chavez</u> is not authority for the proposition that conduct such as appellant's cannot support a conviction under § 76-5-203(c).

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